1959

# Calvin M. Kempf and Mary B. Kempf v. Jack H. Denter and Ohrea N. Denter : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

This appeal is taken from a verdict of the jury finding that the plaintiffs had fraudulently induced the defendants to enter into a certain uniform real estate contract for the sale of a motel and cafe known as the Fireside Motel and Cafe at Ephraim, Utah, wherein the plaintiffs and appellants were the sellers and the defendants and respondents were the buyers. A judgment was thereafter entered awarding the defendants the sum of \$7,000.00.

In this Statement of Facts we have stated the defendants' case in the best possible light and in most instances refer directly to the testimony of the defendants. For this reason, the facts cannot be controverted since the defendants' case can be no stronger than their own testimony. *Ray v. Consolidated Freightways*, 4 U. 2d 137, 289 P. 2d 196.

Jack H. Denter and Ohrea Denter, his wife, negotiated for a period of 14 to 15 months for the purchase of the Fireside Motel at Ephraim, Utah, from the appellants (Tr. 261). Jack Denter was a man of considerable business experience having served as the Sales Manager for Maycock Brokerage Company (Tr 249) and also having owned and operated a cafe in Salt Lake City, Utah, for approximately eight years (Tr. 212). Mr. Denter had a great deal of experience in analyzing business costs and records involved in such operations (Tr. 250). On cross-examination Mr. Denter displayed a very apt knowledge of costs, methods of computing costs and estimating costs from gross proceeds and receipts (Tr. 250, 255).

The parties finally entered into the sales agreement which is the subject of this action on the 26th day of August, 1957. Thereafter in the latter part of September the Denters moved to Ephraim, Utah, and took over the active operation of the Fireside Motel and Cafe. The Denters operated the cafe with the help of Mr. and Mrs. Kempf during the months of October, November, and December of 1957, at which time they continually expressed satisfaction with their purchase and the operation of the property (Tr. 326). The Denters then con-

tinued to operate the cafe property for an additional five months or an approximate total period of eight months, at which time they served notice upon the Kempfs that they were rescinding their contract because of the fraudulent representations made during the sales negotiations. An action was filed and the issues were defined and the plaintiffs were accused specifically of making the following fraudulent representations which induced the defendants to enter into the uniform real estate contract under which the motel property was purchased (Answers to Interrogatories, Record 13, 14). They stated that the plaintiffs had misrepresented the facts as follows:

A. That they had no other sources of income other than the operation of the motel and cafe.

B. That during the operation of the motel they had accumulated in the bank \$28,000.00.

C. That from the operation of the motel and cafe, the profit had been sufficient to pay for the same in full in seven years.

D. That the profit from the operation of the motel and cafe were sufficient to permit the plaintiffs to purchase a new Buick four out of five years.

E. That the operation of the cafe and motel would gross the sales price within two years.

F. That the operation of the cafe and motel could be handled by hiring all of the help and it would make a profit.

G. That the low net for the operation would be \$10,000.00.

H. That only 90 per cent of the gross receipts of the cafe were reported and the plaintiffs inferred that not all of the funds received in operating the motel were reported.

I. That the income from the operation of the cafe and motel was sufficient to pay an average payroll of approximately \$400 and \$900 per month and still show a good profit.

J. That the profits from the operation were sufficient to pay the expenses of sending two children to private schools.

K. That the plaintiffs' liquor bill alone charged to the business ran over \$1,000.00 a year.

L. That the plaintiffs were reluctant to sell, but were doing so because of the ill health of Mary B. Kempf.

The Kempfs denied that the statements were made to the defendants. The evidence showed that during the fourteen to fifteen months of negotiations between the parties on the sale of the properties that the respondents made a good many trips down to view the properties and made inquiries of other sales people who had stayed at the property and also examined the books and accounts of the appellants concerning the exact income and expenses of the business. The books were made available to them on any request and upon one occasion both respondents examined the books in some detail concern-

ing the gross income and expenses of the business. Mrs. Denter specifically recalled going over such items as exact days' receipts for the gross business on certain dates and also such expenses as the gas bill, electric light bill, and salaries (Tr. 458 to 462).

The jury impaneled to hear the matter found for the Denters and against the Kempfs, and awarded the sum of \$7,000.00 to the Denters. This appeal is taken from that verdict and the judgment of the Court based thereon.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT A DIRECTED VERDICT FOR THE PLAINTIFFS BELOW AND FURTHER ERRED IN REFUSING TO SET ASIDE THE VERDICT OF THE JURY AND GRANT JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF PLAINTIFFS NOTWITHSTANDING THE VERDICT.

### POINT II.

THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING INTO EVIDENCE EXHIBITS AND STATEMENTS NOT RELIED UPON BY THE DEFENDANTS AND NOT KNOWN TO THE DEFENDANTS.

### POINT III.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING INTO EVIDENCE EXHIBITS CONTAINING INFLAMMATORY HEARSAY AND CONCLUSIONS OF COUNSEL.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT A DIRECTED VERDICT FOR THE

PLAINTIFFS BELOW AND FURTHER  
ERRED IN REFUSING TO SET ASIDE THE  
VERDICT OF THE JURY AND GRANT JUDG-  
MENT IN FAVOR OF PLAINTIFFS NOT-  
WITHSTANDING THE VERDICT.

Assuming the representations to have been made as testified to by the respondents herein an examination of the representations leads to one conclusion: The representations claimed go to the fact of income from the cafe and motel business either directly or indirectly. Mr. Denter claims that the representations were another way by saying that the amounts of profit from the motel operation were substantial.

Even assuming *arguendo*, that the representations were made and that they were made for the purpose of inducing the defendants to act, we find neither reliance nor any entitlement to rely upon those representations by the defendants to their injury and damage as is required under decisions of this Court. *Pace v. Parish*, 122 Utah 141, 247 P. 2d 273. From the defendants' testimony we find without contradiction that they, Jack Denter and his wife Ohrea Denter, did examine the books of the Fire-side Motel. Jack Denter testified that he examined the books to some extent on at least two occasions. Ohrea Denter testified that she spent some time in the company of her husband and one of the sellers, Mary Kempf, in examining the books and particularly books concerning wage items, sales items, a gas bill, electric light bill, and that they examined particularly individual day receipts (Tr. 458 to 462). Mrs. Denter then stated that she did not go through the books thoroughly, but that she did examine

item by item certain days' receipts and did comment upon them and discuss them with her husband and Mary Kempf; that she and Mary Kempf left the room and left the books with Calvin Kempf, Jack Denter, and a salesman by the name of Broome. The defendants did not rely upon any of the alleged statements or representations claimed to have been made by the plaintiffs. They made an independent investigation and had all of the facts open to them upon the investigation. Under these circumstances the buyers cannot be heard to say that they had a right to rely on representations they undertook to investigate and verify themselves, particularly where all the information was available to them (Am. Jur., Vol. 23, Fraud & Deceit, Sec. 147).

The representee cannot assert fraud when he closes his eyes in order not to see it; he must take some precaution against being deceived by those with whom he deals. *Pace v. Parrish, supra*, Annotation: 61 ALR 511. The defendants below and respondents here have not proved by clear and convincing evidence that they relied upon any of the alleged representations made by the plaintiffs. *Pace v. Parish, supra*. Conversely, the evidence of the respondents convincingly demonstrates that they did not rely on the plaintiffs but insisted upon an examination of their books which were an accurate record of the plaintiffs' business activity; and that the defendant Jack H. Denter had sufficient experience to clearly understand the books and records and to interpret them in the light of his experience with a similar type business. The major part of the receipts of the Fireside Cafe and Motel were

from the cafe operation, a type of operation in which Mr. and Mrs. Dentor had been connected for the past years in Salt Lake City.

Even assuming that the representations enumerated in the Statement of Facts were made, the defendants have no right to close their eyes and accept unquestioningly any representations made to them but they have the duty to make such investigation of inquiry as reasonable care under the circumstances would dictate. And in this case such investigation was made. The duty of a reasonable man under such circumstances as is discussed in detail in the case of *Lewis et al v. White, et al*, 2 Utah 2d 101, 269 P. 2d 865. No matter how naive or inexperienced the defendants were, they could not close their eyes and accept unquestionably any representations made to them. It was their duty to make such investigation and inquiry as reasonable care under the circumstances would dictate.

There being no evidence whatsoever disputing the respondents' independent investigation they are precluded, as a matter of law, from recovery, and the matter should not have gone to the jury.

A second novel situation is presented in this case since the buyers took possession of the property and all its benefits and operated it for a period of eight months before electing to rescind their contract. This case falls within the well settled rule that the right to elect to rescind a contract on the ground of fraud must be exercised promptly upon discovery of the fraud and that any delay which is inconsistent with the degree of promptness required by the circumstances is a bar to relief and con-

stitutes a defense to the proceedings (24 Am. Jur., p. 32, Sec. 208). The defendants, buyers of the Fireside Motel and Cafe, took active possession of the property the latter part of September and actively operated it during the months of October, November, and December of 1957, after which period of time they made the first installment payment due under the uniform real estate contract, Exhibit 1, of \$1,350.00, which payment was made in January, 1958, by the defendants to the plaintiffs shortly after its due date of December 31, 1957 (Tr. 327). During this period the defendants took all of the benefits of the operation and on many occasions expressed satisfaction with the business to the plaintiffs who were then assisting them with the operation. The following is a portion of the transcript shown at pages 326 to 327 :

#### CROSS - EXAMINATION — JACK H. DENTER

Q. Yes. Then in your opinion, \$35,000.00 gross would have been bad business?

A. That is right, sir. With the expenses and my private expenses, such as Dentist bills and that, I don't think it would carry it. Yes sir, I think it is bad.

Q. Now Mr. — excuse me just one minute.

A. Yes sir.

Q. Mr. Denter, did you discuss the business of the motel with Mr. and Mrs. Kempf during the months of October, November, and December of 1957?

A. Not in the way of business. We just worked together. I don't think there was anything that I can recollect that there was anything. I was plenty

satisfied with the business at that time, because it was a good business at that particular time.

Q. As a matter of fact, did you tell them that you were satisfied with the business?

A. At that particular time, yes.

Q. And did you tell them that you liked the town?

A. I certainly did.

Q. And you liked your customers?

A. That is right.

Q. And that you appreciated their help?

A. That is right.

Q. And did you — you told them on numerous occasions during the month of October, November, and December, isn't correct?

A. Yes. That I appreciated their help, I sure did.

Q. Yes. Now during the month of January, did you have any discussions with Mr. and Mrs. Kempf concerning the business?

A. No sir, I didn't.

Q. During the month of January, you made your quarterly payment which was due the last of December, isn't that correct? During the month of January, you made a payment on the contract?

A. That was for October, November, and December of 1957.

Q. That is right.

A. Yes.

Q. But you made it in the latter part of January?

A. That is right.

Q. And at that time you were satisfied with the business?

A. That is right.

Q. Now when did you first become dissatisfied with the business?

A. About March.

Under these circumstances and for a period of eight months the defendants continued to treat the contract as valid and the property as their own and continued to perform under the contract. Their conduct was such as to ratify and confirm the entire contract if we could assume that they had the alternative of rescission available to them. It further appears that if their gross income from the period were extended for a full calendar year, their income would have exceeded \$35,000.00. This sum is considerably in excess of the minimum of \$30,000.00 the plaintiffs represented the business had grossed in past years. The evidence was that the defendants repeatedly affirmed the contract and they therefore cannot now be heard to demand rescission. A similar fact situation appeared in the landmark case of *Grymes v. Sanders*, 93 U. S. 55, 62, where the court used the following language:

\* \* \* Where a party desires to rescind upon the ground of mistake or fraud, he must, upon the discovery of the facts, at once announce his purpose and adhere to it. If he be silent, and continue to treat the property as his own, he will be held to have waived the objection, and will be conclusively bound by the contract, as if the mistake or fraud had not occurred. He is not permitted to play fast and loose. Delay and vacillation are fatal to the right which had before sub-

assisted. These remarks are peculiarly applicable to speculative property like that here in question, which is liable to large and constant fluctuations in value. \* \* \*

In addition to the evidence which developed during the course of the trial, it should be noted that Exhibit 3, the uniform real estate contract entered into by the parties, includes the following provision:

It is hereby expressly understood and agreed by the parties hereto that the Buyer accepts the said property in its present condition and that there are no representations, covenants, or agreements between the parties herewith with reference to said property except as herein specifically set forth or attached hereto.

The parties expressly contracted against any warranties or representations which were beyond the contract itself. The defendants expressly acknowledged satisfaction thereby with their own investigation.

#### POINT II.

**THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING INTO EVIDENCE EXHIBITS AND STATEMENTS NOT RELIED UPON BY THE DEFENDANTS AND NOT KNOWN TO THE DEFENDANTS.**

Over objection (Tr. 111, Tr. 130) of the plaintiffs, the Trial Court allowed into evidence Exhibit No. 12 which was a listing card on the Fireside Motel and Cafe at Ephraim, Utah, which was given to the Klinger Realty Company on September 15, 1955, and which expired December 15, 1955. The Listing Agreement was never seen by Mr. or Mrs. Denton, and for that reason was never relied upon by them. The exhibit was damaging and

prejudicial to the plaintiffs in that it had a gross income figure of approximately \$38,000 to \$50,000.00. The evidence developed that the gross income of the business had been in the area of \$30,000 to \$35,000.00, which gross was in full accord with the exhibit actually seen by Mr. and Mrs. Denter (Exhibit 13) which represented the gross as between \$30,000 and \$50,000.00.

The Court further erred in allowing evidence over the objection of counsel that statements had been made by Mr. Kempf to one of the salesmen of Klinger Realty that, it looks like they would make \$60,000 annually on the place. The secretary, Mrs. Virginia Brown, claimed that she overheard this statement being made but that she was in another room and did not know exactly the connection in which the statement was made (Tr. 113, Tr. 115). Further, Mr. Kempf was cross-examined in regard to a \$60,000.00 statement. The prejudicial effect this evidence had on the jury was that it led them to believe that Mr. Kempf had a propensity to make fictitious statements about the business and it would influence the jury to be more likely to believe the statements the defendants said the plaintiffs made. The statements were never shown to have influenced the defendants, as a matter of fact they were not known to the defendants. The representations which were allowed in evidence were also beyond the pleadings in the case contrary to the requirement imposed by Rule 9B, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, requiring allegations of fraud to be pleaded specifically. The plaintiffs had no notice of these charges or allegations and the immaterial matters were brought before the

jury to inflame and prejudice them. It is entirely possible that the entire decision of the jury was based upon these items.

### POINT III.

#### THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING INTO EVIDENCE EXHIBITS CONTAINING INFLAMMATORY HEARSAY AND CONCLUSIONS OF COUNSEL.

Over objection of plaintiffs' attorneys the Trial Court allowed into evidence Exhibits 8 and 9, which were letters of council directed to the plaintiffs which were in such language as to prejudice a jury. The exhibits have the effect of giving conclusions of counsel based on hearsay evidence, the status of admissible evidence which would entitle the jury to give that evidence substantial weight and upon which they could base a decision.

### CONCLUSION

In conclusion we submit that the Trial Court erred in failing to grant the plaintiffs' motion for a directed verdict, and further in failing to grant the plaintiffs' motion for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict of the jury. As a matter of law the defendants were not entitled to place any reliance on representations alleged to have been made, and further the defendants affirmed and ratified the contract by their subsequent conduct.