1959

# Calvin M. Kempf and Mary B. Kempf v. Jack H. Denter and Ohrea N. Denter : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### Point I.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SUBMITTED THE CASE TO THE JURY.

The first point relied upon by the Appellants challenges the sufficiency of the evidence for submitting the same to the jury, and contends that the Court should rule as a matter of law in favor of the Appellants. It is fundamental that if there is any substantial competent evidence, the case will be submitted to the jury on factual issues. The issues raised by the Appellants go to the question of whether there was in fact actual reliance by the Respondents upon representations made by the Appellants and whether the Respondents notified the Appellants of their intention to rescind within a reasonable period of time after becoming aware of the misrepresentations.

A. RELIANCE. The main contention of the Appellants in this regard is to the effect that the Respondents had ample opportunity to examine the books and records of the Appellants in connection with their operation of the cafe and motel, and as a result of such inspection they, therefore, did not rely upon any representations made by the Appellants. It is hard to believe that there is any validity to this argument since if the Respondents had in fact had ample opportunity and did examine the books and therefore knew the true nature of the operation of the business for the preceding years, they would have learned that from 1951 through 1957 when it was sold to the Respondents the business had operated at a loss (Exhibits 19 and 20). It cannot seriously be contended that the Respondents

would sell a cafe and terminate his employment which netted for him during 1956 \$7,339.10 (Exhibit 23) and knowingly take over a losing operation.

Since the jury found in favor of the Respondents, it is assumed that they believed their statements concerning an examination of the books. The Respondents stated that they only had an opportunity on one occasion to make a cursory examination of a few of the items in the books involving the operation. This evidence is corroborated by the testimony of the Real Estate Agent who was present and interested the Respondents in the motel and cafe. The testimony of Mr. Denter, one of the Respondents, is as follows:

Q. And tell us what took place in connection with those books?

A. Well, I ask Mrs. Kempf if that was the books. And she said this was just for 1957. That they were not complete. And I went through them, and the thing that impressed me the most on the books, was the salary of \$400.00 to \$900.00 a month throughout the year.

Q. Did you discuss that with Mr. Kempf?

A. I told Mr. Kempf, that if I cut down with my family, the salary, that it would help pay my down payment, my payments each month.

Q. Did you at any other time see any of the books?

A. No sir, I did not.

Q. Did you at any other time ask to see the books?

A. In 1956, when Mr. Kempf said that they were in Richfield at that time was the only time that I ever

saw the books was in 1957 at one time, and that was in just 1957 records.

Q. And how long did you take to examine the books?

A. Just a few minutes, because they weren't complete. The thing that impressed me most with the books was the salary of \$400.00 to \$900.00 a month.

Q. Did discussions and negotiations continue while you were examining them there?

A. No. They let me look through, me and the wife, kind of glanced through them. But they didn't have any totals on them at that particular time that I recall.

Q. In other words, you didn't have any totals as to what the gross was for that much of the year or expenses? You could just look at individual items?

A. Yes.

Q. For any particular time?

A. That is right.

Upon cross-examination Mr. Denter again reaffirmed that he only saw the books on one occasion (Tr. 257).

Again at Page 330 of the Transcript on cross-examination, the witness testified: "The only time I ever saw any of his books was just prior to my purchasing and they were incomplete records of the year 1957" (Tr. 454).

Mrs. Denter testified concerning this same subject matter as follows:

Q. Mrs. Denter, upon how many occasions did you come to Ephraim in connection with the proposed purchase of the Fireside Motel and Cafe?

A. Three times.

Q. And would you be able to tell us in what years those trips were made?

A. There were two trips in '56 and one in '57.

Q. During any of those trips, did you or your husband have occasion to examine the books of the operation?

A. In the year of '57.

Q. And you only came on one trip in '57, is that right?

A. Just one.

Q. And where were those books located when they were examined?

A. In the Kempf home.

Q. Any particular room or place in the Kempf home?

A. In the front room.

Q. Did you or your husband at any time ever examine books when you were present at the kitchen table?

A. No sir, never.

Q. Was there a discussion before that examination took place concerning those books with Mrs. Kempf?

A. Yes sir. Mrs. Kempf said that they weren't complete. We were able to look at them, what she did have there.

Again on page 159 of the Transcript Mrs. Denter testified that the books were not complete and they only glanced at a few of the months in 1957. Mr. Broome, a Real Estate Agent and an independent witness, corroborated the testimony of the Respondents as follows (Tr. 164 and 165):

Q. Well do you recall being in the home with Mrs. Kempf and where some books were available for inspection?

A. Yes.

Q. All right, did you or did you not go over with Mr. Kempf to get some coffee at that time?

A. I do not remember going.

Q. And what discussion took place at that time concerning the books?

A. Well, Mr. Denter naturally wanted to see some of the earlier books. There was only the, as I recall, the 1957.

Q. What was said about it?

A. Mr. Denter wanted to see them and Mr. Kempf said they were in Richfield. So of course, they weren't available.

Q. What about the books that were there. Did you examine them?

A. Only briefly.

Q. Were they summarized and complete?

A. No.

Q. What?

A. They were incomplete. They were still working on them.

Q. Is that the only time any discussion was ever had in your presence concerning the examination of books?

A. I think that is the only time we ever saw any books, yes.

On cross-examination this witness maintained his position as shown in the foregoing testimony (Tr. 202).

A further factor to be considered by the jury as to whether the Respondents should have insisted upon securing all of the books and examined them was the testimony of the Appellant Mr. Kempf that his wife's health was not good and that was the reason he had to sell. The Respondent Denter was asked concerning this item and the effect it had upon him, and he stated as follows: "I just took Mr. Kempf's word that his wife's health wasn't at the best and that is why he had to sell." And again concerning the same subject matter, whether it was taken into consideration, the following question and answer was reported:

Q. And that didn't enter into your consideration in buying the business?

A. Well yes. It had a bearing on it, because I couldn't understand why a man would want to sell such a profitable business unless he had a good reason to sell it. And I figured that that was as good a reason as any. And I know that I would sell my cafe if my wife were in the same position.

People are normally trusting by nature and are reluctant to challenge or show any suspicion or doubt as to the veracity of statements made by other persons. Such suspicion would have been shown if under the circumstances the Respondents had insisted upon seeing all of the books. The statement as to Mrs. Kempf's health was more than sufficient to throw the purchasers off guard.

The foregoing evidence was more than sufficient to

warrant the submission of this issue to the jury. The Court in Instruction No. 9 (R. 56) instructed the jury as follows:

"You are further instructed that before a fraudulent misrepresentation is material, the representee must have had a right to rely on the statements made by the representor and must have actually relied thereon as an inducement to his action.

"Therefore, if you find that the defendants did not rely upon any statements made by the plaintiffs, or that they made independent investigation themselves and relied upon their own investigation, you must find for the plaintiffs and against the defendants."

The issue having properly been submitted to the jury, and the jury having found the facts in favor of the Respondents, the Court properly denied the motion for new trial, or judgment notwithstanding the verdict. The Respondents were told that the business would make a net profit of \$10,000.00 a year. An examination of the complete books would have disclosed that there was in fact a loss for each of the years. Under such circumstances, it is inconceivable that the Respondents did in fact make a complete and thorough investigation and as a result thereof relied upon the information contained in the books as contrasted to the representations made by the Appellants.

B. TIMELINESS OF RECISSION. The Appellants contend that the Court erred in submitting this issue to the jury. Whether a party acts within a reasonable period of time in exercising the right to rescind after acquiring knowledge of the falsity of the representations is a factual question. It is only in extreme cases where no reasonable minds could conclude

to the contrary is the Court permitted to rule as a matter of law that the rescission was not made timely.

The Respondents made only one quarterly payment on the contract and that was for the last quarter of 1957. The receipts for those months were consistent with a gross revenue within the minimums represented by the Appellants. It was testified by the Respondents that the hunting season was a factor in having good business for the months (Tr. 227). At the expiration of the first quarter of 1957, the Respondents stated that the business was very, very poor (Tr. 227), and that in March or April it was necessary for the Respondents to cash in four insurance policies (Tr. 328) and further that in April or May he had a discussion with one of the Appellants concerning the payment of a balance owing on an inventory, at which time he discussed with him the fact that the business as represented was not present (Tr. 230).

One of the other representations relied upon by the Respondents were statements made by the Appellant Kempf that he had no other source of income, other than from the operation of the motel (Tr. 160, 251). The Respondent, Jack Denter, testified that April went by and in the first part of May as a result of a contact with a customer, he went into Salt Lake and asked his attorney to make an investigation concerning employment of the Appellant Kempf (Tr. 228, 229). At the conclusion of that investigation, the Respondent requested that a letter dated May 12, 1958, Exhibit 8, be sent to the Appellants. Exhibit 8 discloses that reference was made to the claimed misrepresentations and that Mr. Denter desired to cancel and rescind the contract. A meeting was requested

with the Appellants, or their attorney. No reply was received to that letter and on June 2, 1958, by registered mail, the contract was actually rescinded (Exhibit 9). Further testimony concerning the timeliness and rescission can be found in the Transcript at pages 227 and 228, 230, 317, and 328. Mrs. Denter testified concerning the subject matter as follows (Tr. 455):

Q. Mrs. Denter, when did you first know that Mr. Kempf had another full time job from which he was receiving compensation?

A. Not until Mr. Denter went into Salt Lake City to see you, and that was around the last of April, or the first part of May. I forgot just what time that you investigated for him.

Since most of the misrepresentations were concerning the quantity of the business, it would take a considerable period of time to ascertain whether those representations were accurate or not. Mr. Kempf, one of the Appellants, admitted that October was normally a good month for operating the business (Tr. 431). It was only during the first quarter of 1958 that the business dropped sufficiently to cause the Respondents to become suspicious. However, during the first part of May a misrepresentation which was either true or false and readily ascertainable was called to the attention of the Respondents, more particularly, the fact that the Appellants had another source of income during all of the time that he operated the motel. Immediately after ascertaining and verifying this fact, the letter, Exhibit 8, was sent to the Appellants.

It is well established that a party having the right to

rescind does have a reasonable time in which to exercise that right. 53 ALR 2d, 757. 102 ALR, 912.

It is further held that the question of timeliness is an issue for the jury. 53 ALR 2d, 766.

The Court's instruction on this issue was greatly in favor of the Appellants. The instruction was as follows:

"You are instructed that if a party to a contract discovers fraud and elects to rescind and have the contract set aside for that reason, this election must be exercised promptly upon discovery of the fraud and that any delay longer than that absolutely required by the circumstances of the party is a bar to relief and constitutes a defense to a proceeding by the agreed parties; because notice of rescission must follow promptly upon discovery of a false statement."

Nevertheless, in spite of the foregoing instruction, the jury found as a matter of fact that the rescission was promptly made after discovery of the fraud and since there is sufficient competent evidence to submit this factual issue to the jury that determination cannot be upset as a matter of law.

As an additional item the Appellants make reference to the provision of the Uniform Real Estate Contract to the effect that no warranties or misrepresentations have been made. However, again it appears to be fundamental law that if the entire contract was entered into as a result of fraudulent misrepresentations, the provision referred to is likewise set aside and is no defense to an action wherein the entire contract is rescinded.

## Point II.

THE COURT COMMITTED NO ERROR IN ITS RULINGS ON ADMISSIBILITY OF EVIDENCE. (Reply to Appellants Points II and III).

The Appellants in their Points II and III make reference to the admissibility of Exhibit No. 12, statements concerning a misrepresentation of \$60,000.00 gross receipts, and the admissibility of Exhibits No. 8 and No. 9.

A. EXHIBIT NO. 12. Two listing agreements were signed in connection with the tentative sale of the property. Exhibit No. 12 was the first listing agreement, and was dated 9/15/55. Exhibit No. 13 was a second listing agreement, dated 1/24/56. In substantially all particulars, the same information is contained on both cards. However, in recopying the information contained on Exhibit No. 12 onto Exhibit No. 13, the gross revenue was shown to be \$30,000.00 to \$50,000.00 as contrasted to \$38,000.00 to \$50,000.00. A secretary in the office of the Real Estate Agent stated that she copied the information from the earlier listings to the subsequent one and in so doing, made the change since it was somewhat difficult to read the writing on the first listing agreement. Exhibit 6, a copy of Exhibit 13 used by the Real Estate Agent, was admitted without objection (Tr. 142). Likewise Exhibit 13 was received without objection (Tr. 302). Mrs. Brown, the secretary in the Real Estate Office, testified concerning the discrepancy of the figures as to the gross revenue (Tr. 113). Mr. Kempf testified that the information contained on the listing card was intended by him to be passed onto prospective customers (Tr. 422, 423). Mr. Broome, the Real Estate Agent, testified that the information contained on his salesmen

copy, Exhibit 6, was not only given to Mr. Denter, the purchaser, but Mr. Denter in fact read the listing card (Tr. 166, 255). Mr. Denter also testified that he read the listing agreement, Exhibit 6 (Tr. 214-5). The discrepancy between the two figures was discussed in great detail when another agent by the name of Swalberg was on the witness stand (Tr. 303-310). Mr. Swalberg testified that he had entered the information on Exhibit 13, which was in direct conflict with the testimony of Mrs. Brown. A specimen of the handwriting of Mr. Swalberg was procured and was introduced as an exhibit. It was therefore necessary to introduce Exhibit 12 and Exhibit 13 for the purpose of permitting the jury to inspect the same to compare the handwriting and to test the credibility of the witnesses as to who copied the information from one card to the other and how the change came into existence. Nevertheless, all of the information contained on Exhibit 12 was before the jury without its introduction; more particularly as cited above, the difference between the \$38,000.00 and \$30,000.00 minimum gross receipts was thoroughly discussed, as well as the representations by Mr. Kempf as to specific receipts for specific years (Tr. 423).

Without Exhibit 12 the Appellants had represented that the minimum gross receipts were in excess of \$40,000.00. A hand bill printed by the Appellants, Exhibit 7, stated "The gross income for two years is more than the asking price." The asking price on both listing agreements was \$82,900.00. Consequently the minimum yearly receipts would have to have been in excess of \$40,000.00.

In view of all of the foregoing facts and circumstances, the Court did not error in receiving Exhibit 12 as evidence and

certainly there can be no claim of any prejudicial error even assuming there was not a sufficient basis for its admissibility.

B. REPRESENTATION OF \$60,000.00 GROSS. The Appellants in their Brief on Page 13 state that the Court further erred in allowing evidence over the objection of counsel that statements had been made by Mr. Kempf to one of the salesmen of Clinger Realty that it looks like they would make \$60,000.00 annually on the place. The truth of the matter is that this item was discussed with the Appellant Kempf, the Secretary in the Real Estate Office, and the Real Estate Agent, and in no case was any objection made to such testimony. On pages 66 and 67 of the Transcript Mr. Kempf was interrogated concerning this matter and no objection was submitted by counsel for the Appellants. On Pages 113 and 114 of the Transcript Mrs. Brown, secretary, was interrogated concerning the subject matter, and again no objections were made. On Page 158 of the Transcript the same subject matter was discussed with Mr. Broome, a Real Estate Agent, and again no objection was made by counsel.

Counsel for the Appellants contend that a discussion of such statements was prejudicial error in that it may have led the jury to believe that "Mr. Kempf had a propensity to make fictitious statements about the business." There was no question in the minds of the jury as a result of all of the evidence that Mr. Kempf had such a propensity. He represented on the listing agreements that the business netted \$10,000.00 per year. However, a C.P.A.'s exhibit after analyzing the books and the income tax statements filed by the Appellants, disclosed the following losses for each of the years in question:

1951	\$2,553.94
1952	563.15
1953	288.38
1954	913.52
1955	4,264.57
1956	1,567.52
1958 (9 months)	168.63

(Exhibit 19)

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